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A Muggle Ride on the Ethics Express: Ethics Still? Always 

The Leaky Cauldron is a famous pub and inn located in Diagon Alley, near Hogwarts 

castle. Before the pandemic, the pub was frequented by wizards, witches, and other magical 

beings thanks to its delicious fare and ever-popular butter beer. However, during the past two 

years, food and beverage sales as well as inn receipts have declined sharply due to a severe 

lack of customer traffic caused by restrictions on student movements during the pandemic.  

The sole member of Hogwarts Properties, LLC, Hannah Abbott, bought the Leaky 

Cauldron 5 years ago and financed the purchase through Gringotts Bank, which held a 

mortgage on the Leaky Cauldron’s land, building, and equipment. Gringotts Bank was the 

primary secured lender. However, in January 2020, the loan was refinanced with a high-risk 

lender, Knockturn Bank, who now holds the mortgage. Due to the steep loss of revenue, 

Hogwarts Properties has defaulted on most of the Leaky Cauldron’s monthly obligations, 

including its Knockturn Bank mortgage payments. Knockturn has been pushing very hard to 

force cure payments on the delinquent mortgage, including some questionable collection 

tactics and at least one failed attempt at non-judicial foreclosure.  

Hogwarts Properties retained Alastor Moody for representation on its refinancing 

efforts. When those efforts stalled, Moody filed a chapter 11, subchapter V, petition for 

Hogwarts Properties one day before the Bank’s second attempt at a foreclosure sale. With 

Moody’s help and legal advice, Hogwarts Properties hopes to reorganize its affairs. And 

because Moody believes there are problems with the Bank’s mortgage documents and the 

assignment, Hogwarts Properties will also try to restructure its secured obligation with 

Knockturn. Hogwarts seeks to hire Gilderoy Lockhart as special counsel to proceed with 
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several counterclaims against Knockturn Bank based on its collection practices and the 

botched foreclosure sale. 

During the hearing on first day motions, Judge Dolores Umbridge made a few 

comments from the bench about her suspicion that Leaky Cauldron patrons had been 

involved in a break-in at Knockturn Bank. The matter was not mentioned in any of the 

motions or documents filed with the court. This led the Debtor’s lawyer, Alastor Moody, to 

believe that Judge Umbridge had received ex parte communications for which some type of 

response was needed.  

During the same hearing, the Debtor’s bookkeeper, Mafalda Prewett, testified 

remotely in support of the cash collateral motion. However, during cross examination by the 

Knockturn lawyer, Mafalda often looked offscreen to the left before answering the questions 

presented. 

After Mafalda’s testimony (and much to the chagrin of Alastor Moody), the Debtor’s 

proposed special counsel, Mr. Lockhart, offered his avid support for the Debtor’s use of cash 

collateral and disclosed to the court, for the first time, that he had a prepetition fee-sharing 

agreement with Griphook Funding, which was supplying much of the capital for the Debtor’s 

postpetition business operations. However, Lockhart reiterated to the court that their 

agreement was never reduced to writing and he had not collected any monies from it. By the 

look on Hannah Abbott’s face, it was clear that the Debtor had no knowledge of this fee-

sharing agreement. It was equally clear that the Knockturn lawyers would immediately file 

an objection to Lockhart’s employment application based on a conflict of interest. 

Several times during the hearing, Lockhart seemed unsteady on his feet, disoriented, 

and unable to focus on the matters at hand. Before the hearing concluded, Lockhart had a 

forceful, awkward exchange with his associate attorney, which clearly upset her. 
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Discussion Questions 

With the assistance of your table wizards, please discuss the following four questions 

as prompted by the Master of Ceremonies. 

I. Are Judge Umbridge’s comments from the bench about the Leaky Cauldron’s

involvement in the break-in at Knockturn Bank grounds for disqualification? If so, how 

should the movant proceed? 

II. What steps should the lawyers for Knockturn Bank take to address the possible

witness-coaching of Mafalda Prewett during her virtual testimony before the court? 

III. Is Lockhart’s prepetition fee-sharing agreement with Griphook Funding a

conflict of interest that disqualifies him from serving as the Debtor’s special counsel? 

IV. Whether you are the judge, co-counsel, or opposing counsel, how do you address

Lockhart’s odd behavior in the courtroom? 
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I. Are Judge Umbridge’s comments from the bench about the Leaky Cauldron’s

involvement in the break-in at Knockturn Bank grounds for disqualification? If so, how 

should the movant proceed? 

28 U.S.C. § 455(a) – Disqualification of justice, judge, or magistrate judge. 
(a) Any justice, judge, or magistrate judge of the United States shall disqualify
himself in any proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be
questioned.
(b) He shall also disqualify himself in the following circumstances:

(1) Where he has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or
personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the
proceeding;

Chaney v. United States District Court for the District of Columbia, 541 U.S. 913 (mem.) 

(Scalia, J.). For a judge contemplating disqualification under § 455(a), the question is whether 

a judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned from the perspective of a reasonable 

person. However, that reasonable person must be aware of all the surrounding facts and 

circumstances in order to make an informed decision. 

Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847 (1988). Disqualification under 

§ 455 is required where a reasonable person may believe that the judge was aware of

circumstances creating an appearance of partiality, even if the judge was in fact unaware of 

those circumstances. 

1 Judge Gunn thanks her 2021-22 term clerk Joy Kleisinger, as well as her interns Yuhang “Summer” Liu 
(Georgetown Law School class of 2024) and Danielle Sumner (American University Law School class of 2024) 
for their assistance in the preparation of parts III and 4 of these materials.  
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Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540 (1994). For disqualification under § 455(b)(1), the 

alleged bias or prejudice must stem from an extrajudicial source. Under ordinary 

circumstances, information revealed to the judge in the normal course of litigation does not 

qualify as an extrajudicial source under § 455. Opinions formed by the judge during current 

or prior judicial proceedings rarely cause recusal unless they reveal such a high degree of 

favoritism or antagonism that they make fair judgment impossible. See Andrade v. Chojnacki, 

338 F.3d 448, 462 (5th Cir. 2003). 

In re Marshall, 291 B.R. 855, 860 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 2003). Critical remarks by the judge 

that are hostile to a creditor’s claim are insufficient to require disqualification. Even though 

the judge’s comments were negative to the creditor, they did not approach the high degree of 

antagonism that would make fair judgment impossible. 

Discussion 

Two federal statutes, 28 U.S.C. § 455 and § 144, address recusal of a federal judge. 

Collectively, these statutes center recusal analysis on questions of partiality, prejudice, or 

actual bias. To that end, under 28 U.S.C. § 455(a), a judge must “disqualify himself in any 

proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned.” Recusal is also 

required when a judge has a “personal bias or prejudice against a party in a proceeding.”2 See 

28 U.S.C. §§ 144, 455(b)(1). The “recusal inquiry” – so denoted by Justice Scalia in Cheney v. 

United States Dist. Court for Dist. of Columbia – must be made from the “’from the perspective of 

 
2 Sections 455(b) and 144 are similarly worded and present identical standards. Indeed, “paragraph 
(b)(1) entirely duplicated the grounds of recusal set forth in § 144 (“bias or prejudice”), but (1) made 
them applicable to all justices, judges, and magistrates (and not just district judges), and (2) placed the 
obligation to identify the existence of those grounds upon the judge himself, rather than requiring 
recusal only in response to a party affidavit.” Liteky v. U.S., 510 U.S. 540, 548 (1994). 
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a reasonable observer who is informed of all the surrounding facts and circumstances.’” 541 

U.S. 913, 924 (2004) (Scalia, J., sitting alone) (quoting Microsoft Corp. v. United States, 530 U.S. 

1301, 1302 (2000)). Other courts have elaborated that: “The reasonable observer is a “well-

informed, thoughtful observer rather than [ ] a hypersensitive or unduly suspicious person.” In 

re Mason, 916 F.2d 384, 386 (7th Cir. 1990). A reasonable person “appreciate[s] the 

significance of the facts in light of relevant legal standards and judicial practice and can 

discern whether any appearance of impropriety is merely an illusion.” In re Sherwin-Williams 

Co., 607 F.3d 474, 478 (7th Cir. 2010).”  

 Recently, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals surmised the recusal statutes by 

simply stating that: “under § 455(a), a judge should recuse ‘when there is an appearance of 

impropriety,’ and, under § 455(b), a judge should recuse ‘when any of the specific 

circumstances set forth in that subsection exist.’” Wood v. Frederick, No. 21-12238, 2022 WL 

1742953, at *1, *3 (May 31, 2022), citing United States v. Patti, 337 F.3d 1317, 1321 (11th Cir. 

2003). The recusal inquiry under §445(a) is an objective one, intended “to promote the public's 

confidence in the impartiality and integrity of the judicial process.” Davis v. Jones, 506 F.3d 

1325, 1332 n. 12 (11th Cir.2007) (internal citations omitted). Importantly, “[s]cienter is not 

an element of a violation of § 455(a).” Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 

847, 859–60 (1988). That means the “. . . judge's lack of knowledge of a disqualifying 

circumstance may bear on the question of remedy, but it does not eliminate the risk that ‘his 

impartiality might reasonably be questioned’ by other persons.” Liljeberg, 486 U.S. at 859-60. 

Indeed, the Supreme Court has stated: “To read § 455(a) to provide that the judge must know 

of the disqualifying facts, requires not simply ignoring the language of the provision—which 

makes no mention of knowledge—but further requires concluding that the language in 

subsection (b)(4)—which expressly provides that the judge must know of his or her interest—
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is extraneous.” Id. “Moreover, advancement of the purpose of the provision—to promote 

public confidence in the integrity of the judicial process, see S.Rep. No. 93–419, p. 5 (1973); 

H.R.Rep. No. 93–1453, p. 5 (1974)—does not depend upon whether or not the judge actually 

knew of facts creating an appearance of impropriety, so long as the public might reasonably 

believe that he or she knew.” Id. at 860. Thus, when a judge does not actually know of facts 

creating an appearance of impropriety, but should have known of such facts, it creates the “kind 

of appearance of impropriety that § 455(a) was intended to prevent.” Id. at 867–68. 

Title 28 U.S.C. § 455(b), “offers a list of other situations requiring recusal, one of 

which is where a judge ‘has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or personal 

knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding.’” 28 U.S.C. § 455(b)(1); 

Belue v. Leventhal, 640 F.3d 567, 572 (4th Cir.  2011). “Adverse legal rulings are not proof of 

prejudice or bias and, almost never, a basis for recusal under 28 U.S.C. §§ 144 or 455(b)(1).” 

D'Amario v. Bailey, 182 Fed. Appx. 102, 103 (3rd Cir. 2006). Moreover, “a judge's ordinary 

efforts at courtroom administration—even a stern and short tempered judge's ordinary efforts 

at courtroom administration—remain immune.” Liteky v. U.S., 510 U.S. 540, 556 (1994); see 

Levy v. Levitt, 3 Fed. Appx. 944, 951(10th Cir. 2001) (holding that a judge’s impatience with 

parties’ numerous briefs and “unheeding to Defendant's pleas for exoneration” did not rise to 

a level of prejudice under § 455(b)); see also United States v. Wedd, 993 F.3d 104, 115 (2d. Cir. 

2021) (holding that “[o]rdinarily, Section 455(a) will not require recusal based on “a judge's 

comments during a proceeding that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, 

the parties, or their cases.” “[B]ias sufficient to justify recusal must be a personal one and not 

one arising from the judge's view of the law.” In re M. Ibrahim Khan, P.S.C., 751 F.2d 162, 164 

(6th Cir. 1984). In other words, “[t]he bias must be personal rather than judicial, and ‘the facts 

averred must be sufficiently definite and particular to convince a reasonable person that bias 
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exists; simple conclusions, opinions, or rumors are insufficient.’” United States v. Sykes, 7 F.3d 

1331, 1339 (7th Cir. 1993). Indeed, “in order to ‘establish bias or prejudice from in court 

conduct,’ a party must show ‘the judge had a disposition ‘so extreme as to display a clear 

inability to render a fair judgment.’” American Prairie Const. Co. v. Hoich, 560 F.3d 780, 790 

(8th Cir. 2009) (internal citations omitted) 

 In the Liteky decision, the Supreme Court addressed the extrajudicial source doctrine 

that is frequently discussed in the context of recusal decisions. Ultimately, the Court 

concluded it better to “speak of the existence of a significant (and often determinative) 

‘extrajudicial source’ factor, than of an ‘extrajudicial source’ doctrine, in recusal jurisprudence.” 

Liteky, 510 U.S. at 555. In the context of that conclusion, the Court emphasized the rarity of 

circumstances where judicial rulings constitute a valid basis for a bias or partiality motion — 

remarking that they present grounds for appeal, perhaps, but not grounds for recusal, 

typically. In that regard, the Court elaborated further: 

opinions formed by the judge on the basis of facts introduced or events 
occurring in the course of the current proceedings, or of prior proceedings, do 
not constitute a basis for a bias or partiality motion unless they display a deep-
seated favoritism or antagonism that would make fair judgment impossible. 
Thus, judicial remarks during the course of a trial that are critical or 
disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, 
ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge. They may do so if they 
reveal an opinion that derives from an extrajudicial source; and they will do so 
if they reveal such a high degree of favoritism or antagonism as to make fair 
judgment impossible. An example of the latter (and perhaps of the former as 
well) is the statement that was alleged to have been made by the District Judge 
in Berger v. United States, 255 U.S. 22, 41 S.Ct. 230, 65 L.Ed. 481 (1921), a World 
War I espionage case against German–American defendants: “One must have 
a very judicial mind, indeed, not [to be] prejudiced against the German 
Americans” because their “hearts are reeking with disloyalty.” Id., at 28 
(internal quotation marks omitted). Not establishing bias or partiality, however, 
are expressions of impatience, dissatisfaction, annoyance, and even anger, that 
are within the bounds of what imperfect men and women, even after having 
been confirmed as federal judges, sometimes display. A judge's ordinary efforts 
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at courtroom administration—even a stern and short-tempered judge's ordinary 
efforts at courtroom administration—remain immune. 
 

Id. “Of course, while an extrajudicial source weighs in favor of recusal, it alone may not be 

sufficient to find bias or the appearance of partiality. United States v. Brocato, 4 F.4th 296, 304 

(5th Cir. 2021). Ultimately, “recusal inquiries are ‘highly personal in nature and require each 

judge in such a situation to set aside emotion and thoughtfully examine his ability to 

impartially ‘administer justice without respect to persons.’” U.S. v. Holland, 519 F.3d 909, 915 

(9th Cir. 2008), citing 28 U.S.C. § 453. 

Finally, a few loose ends regarding recusal. First, “[t]he majority view approves partial 

recusals as an important case-management device.” Decker v. GE Healthcare Inc., 770 F.3d 378, 

389 (6th Cir. 2014) (citing Ellis v. United States, 313 F.3d 636, 642 (1st Cir. 2002). And, 

regarding appeal, a district judge's refusal to recuse under 28 U.S.C. §§ 144, 455 is reviewed 

for abuse of discretion. Christo v. Padgett, 223 F.3d 1324, 1333 (11th Cir. 2000). Thus, the 

appellate court “will affirm a district judge's refusal to recuse himself unless [they] conclude 

that the impropriety is clear and one which would be recognized by all 

objective, reasonable persons.” United States v. Bailey, 175 F.3d 966, 968 (11th Cir. 1999). 

II. What steps should the lawyers for Knockturn Bank take to address the possible 

witness-coaching of Mafalda Prewett during her virtual testimony before the court? 

Federal Rule of Evidence 611(a) – “The court should exercise reasonable control over 
the mode and order of examining witnesses and presenting evidence so as to: (1) make 
those procedures effective for determining the truth; (2) avoid wasting time; and (3) 
protect witness from harassment or undue embarrassment.” 
 
Trial 

Hernandez v. City of Vancouver, 657 F. App'x 685, 687 (9th Cir. 2016). Witness coaching or 

“making faces” is not contempt if it was “not bad faith,” but is a “sanctionable event for 
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wasting the court's time.” Witness coaching can be referenced as alleged nods, headshakes, 

and mouthing words during testimony. “Before awarding sanctions under its inherent 

powers, ... the court must make an explicit finding that counsel's conduct ‘constituted or was 

tantamount to bad faith.’ ” (quoting Roadway Exp., Inc. v. Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 767, 100 S.Ct. 

2455, 65 L.Ed.2d 488 (1980)). 

Stephen E. Arthur & Robert S. Hunter, Coaching a witness, Federal Trial Handbook: Civil § 

9:42 (2021-2022 ed.). “It is improper for any person in the courtroom to coach, or use signs, 

nods, hand-gestures, or other indications, for the purpose of assisting a witness or suggesting 

a specific answer while the witness is testifying at trial. The court is in the best position to see 

and quickly halt any attempt to coach or improperly assist a testifying witness. However, an 

adverse party who observes the coaching of a witness should object and report it to the court 

promptly, and make sure the improper conduct is described on the record.” 

Depositions 

“Taken together, Rules 26(f), 30, 37(a) [of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure], along 

with Rule 16, which gives the Court control over pretrial case management and discovery, 

vest the Court with broad authority and discretion to control discovery, including the conduct 

of depositions.” Collins v. Int'l Dairy Queen, Inc., No. CIV.A. 94-95-4MACWDO, 1998 WL 

293314, at *1 (M.D. Ga. June 4, 1998). The rules are designed to ensure that the testimony 

taken …. is completely that of the deponent, rather than a version of the testimony which has 

been edited or glossed by the deponent's lawyer. See Collins v. Int'l Dairy Queen, Inc., No. 

CIV.A. 94-95-4MACWDO, 1998 WL 293314, at *1, citing Hall v. Clifton Precision, 150 F.R.D. 

525 (E.D.Penn.1993).  
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“If a further explanation is called for, such explanation should be succinct, and not 

designed to coach or suggest an answer to the witness or otherwise to interfere with 

questioning of the witness by opposing counsel.” (Id.) 

 

III. Is Lockhart’s prepetition fee-sharing agreement with Griphook Funding a 

conflict of interest that disqualifies him from serving as the Debtor’s special counsel? 

11 U.S.C. § 327(e) – The trustee, with the court’s approval, may employ, for a 
specified special purpose, other than to represent the trustee in conducting the 
case, an attorney that has represented the debtor, if in the best interest of the 
estate, and if such attorney does not represent or hold any interest adverse to 
the debtor or to the estate with respect to the matter on which such attorney is 
to be employed. 
 
11 U.S.C. § 329(a) – Any attorney representing a debtor in a case under this 
title, or in connection with such a case, whether or not such attorney applies 
for compensation under this title, shall file with the court a statement of the 
compensation paid or agreed to be paid, if such payment or agreement was 
made after one year before the date of the filing of the petition, for services 
rendered or to be rendered in contemplation of or in connection with the case 
by such attorney, and the source of such compensation. 
 
11 U.S.C. § 504(a) – Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, a 
person receiving compensation or reimbursement under section 503(b)(2) or 
503(b)(4) of this title may not share or agree to share— 
 

(1) any such compensation or reimbursement with another 
 person; or 

(2) any compensation or reimbursement received by another 
person under such sections. 

 
Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2016(b) – Every attorney for a debtor, whether or not the 
attorney applies for compensation, shall file and transmit to the United States 
trustee within 14 days after the order for relief, or at another time as the court 
may direct, the statement required by §329 of the Code including whether the 
attorney has shared or agreed to share the compensation with any other entity. 
The statement shall include the particulars of any such sharing or agreement to 
share by the attorney, but the details of any agreement for the sharing of the 
compensation with a member or regular associate of the attorney's law firm 
shall not be required. A supplemental statement shall be filed and transmitted 
to the United States trustee within 14 days after any payment or agreement not 
previously disclosed. 
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Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 1.8(a) – A lawyer shall not enter into a business 
transaction with a client or knowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, 
security or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client.  
 
This fact pattern implicates ethical issues of nondisclosure and conflict of interest, 

which are governed by § 327(e), § 329(a), § 504, Rule 2016(b), and Rule 1.8(a) of the ABA’s 

Model Rules of Professional Conduct. Lockhart should be disqualified as special counsel for 

the Debtor because of his prepetition fee-sharing agreement with Griphook Funding. Section 

504 of the Bankruptcy Code prohibits debtors’ attorneys who receive compensation in 

bankruptcy cases from sharing or agreeing to share such compensation unless it is shared with 

other members of the same association, corporation, or partnership. See 11 U.S.C. § 504. Even 

if the sharing of compensation is allowed under § 504, attorneys representing debtors in 

bankruptcy cases have an affirmative duty to disclose all fee-sharing agreements. See 11 

U.S.C. § 329(a); Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2016(b). Failure to comply so can be grounds for 

disqualification under § 327(e), which requires that attorneys in bankruptcy cases must not 

have a potential or actual conflict of interest with the debtor or the estate. See 11 U.S.C. § 

327(e). Similarly, Rule 1.8(a) of the ABA’s Model Rules of Professional Conduct provides 

that attorneys shall not obtain a pecuniary interest adverse to the client without first obtaining 

the client’s written informed consent. Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 1.8(a) (Am. Bar Ass’n, 

2020). The Court has discretion to disqualify an attorney who has a potential conflict of 

interest, but the existence of an actual conflict is per se disqualifying, which is likely to be 

found when the attorney is in a position that allows it to favor one interest over an 

impermissible conflicting interest. See In re NNN 400 Capitol Center 16 LLC, 632 B.R. 243, 260 

(D. Del. 2021).  
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In In re NNN 400 Capital Ctr. 16, special counsel was disqualified from further 

representation because it failed to disclose its prepetition fee-sharing agreement with a loan 

broker, Seth Denison, in its employment application. See id. at 259-66. The court held that 

this agreement violated § 327(e) and Rule 1.8(a) of the ABA's Model Rules of Professional 

Conduct, without the debtor’s written consent, because it created a conflict of interest that 

special counsel may have favored the deal that Denison found over other brokers even if new 

deals offered better terms. See id. at 259-60, 265-66. Moreover, the nondisclosure of prepetition 

fee-sharing agreement in the special counsel’s employment application violated §329(a) and 

Rule 2016(b), regardless of whether the agreement was written, formal, or performed. See id. 

at 262-63. 

Similar to the situation in In re NNN, Lockhart’s prepetition fee-sharing agreement 

with Griphook Funding creates a conflict of interest in violation of § 327(e) because 

competing economic interests from Griphook Funding would prevent Lockhart from being 

fully faithful to the interests of the Debtor and the estate. Although the prepetition agreement 

was never reduced to writing and Lockhart did not collect money from it, Lockhart was still 

obligated to disclose the agreement and obtain the Debtor’s informed consent because, as 

demonstrated in In re NNN, § 329(a) does not include limitations requiring only written and 

performed agreements to be disclosed. 632 B.R. 243, 262 (D. Del. 2021). The failure to 

disclose the prepetition fee-sharing agreement in Lockhart’s employment application, 

Lockhart’s prepetition fee-sharing agreement with Griphook Funding is a conflict of interest 

that should disqualify him from serving as the Debtor’s special counsel. 

IV. Whether you are the judge, co-counsel, or opposing counsel, how do you 

address Lockhart’s odd behavior in the courtroom? 
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Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 1.1 – A lawyer shall provide competent 
representation to a client. Competent representation requires the legal 
knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the 
representation. 
 
Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 8.3 – A lawyer who knows that another lawyer 
has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct that raises a 
substantial question as to that lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a 
lawyer in other respects, shall inform the appropriate professional authority.  
 
Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 8.4 – It is professional misconduct for a lawyer 
to: 
 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so 
through the acts of another; 
 
(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's 
honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects; 
 
(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or 
misrepresentation; 
 
(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of 
justice; 
 
(e) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government 
agency or official or to achieve results by means that violate the 
Rules of Professional Conduct or other law; 
 
(f) knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a 
violation of applicable rules of judicial conduct or other law; or 
 
(g) engage in conduct that the lawyer knows or reasonably 
should know is harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, 
sex, religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, marital status or socioeconomic 
status in conduct related to the practice of law. This paragraph 
does not limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline or 
withdraw from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16. 
This paragraph does not preclude legitimate advice or advocacy 
consistent with these Rules. 

 
Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 8.5(a) – A lawyer admitted to practice in this 
jurisdiction is subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction, regardless 
of where the lawyer's conduct occurs. A lawyer not admitted in this jurisdiction 
is also subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction if the lawyer 
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provides or offers to provide any legal services in this jurisdiction. A lawyer 
may be subject to the disciplinary authority of both this jurisdiction and another 
jurisdiction for the same conduct. 
 
This fact pattern addresses Rules 1.1, 8.3, 8.4, and 8.5 of the ABA’s Model Rules of 

Professional Conduct, which concern attorney competence, reporting professional 

misconduct, attorney misconduct, and disciplinary authority, respectively. Counsel 

Lockhart’s behavior during the hearing – specifically his unsteadiness on his feet, his 

disorientation, and his inability to focus – raises concerns that Lockhart was either under the 

influence of drugs or alcohol or otherwise physically unfit to represent his client during the 

hearing. Without further information, an objective evaluation of his behavior suggests an 

inappropriate use of drugs or alcohol, or potentially a disabling medical condition. While not 

specifically set forth in the Model Rules or the Bankruptcy Code, parties and the courts have 

a professional and personal responsibility to those who appear in their court to address issues 

of fitness and competency in an appropriate manner. Many local and state bars offer programs 

with options for referrals, but potential ethical duties beyond simply referring an individual to 

such services may also exist. The ABA provides a comprehensive directory of the lawyer 

assistance programs offered by state bar associations.3 

If Lockhart’s behavior blatantly showcases his inability to reasonably represent the 

Debtor during the hearing, Judge Umbridge may determine that Lockhart is violating the 

ABA’s Model Rules of Professional Conduct by failing to “provide competent representation 

to a client.” Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 1.1 (Am. Bar Ass’n, 2020). Under 11 U.S.C. § 

105(a), a bankruptcy court is authorized to, sua sponte, “tak[e] any action or mak[e] any 

determination necessary or appropriate to enforce or implement court orders or rules, or to 

 
3 https://www.americanbar.org/groups/lawyer_assistance/resources/lap_programs_by_state/  
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prevent an abuse of process.” See In Re Schemelia, 607 B.R. 455, 462 (Bankr. D.N.J. 2019) 

(citing In re Antonelli, 2012 WL 280722, at *13 (Bankr. D.N.J. 2012)). Consequently, Judge 

Umbridge could order the involuntary removal of Lockhart from his capacity as Counsel for 

the Debtor if his conduct was severe enough. Several jurisdictions interpret courts to have 

such power when attorneys “exhibit objective evidence of physical incapacity.” See Roswall v. 

Mun. Court, 89 Cal. App. 3d 467, 473 (Cal. Ct. App. 1979); People v. Coones, 550 N.W.2d 600 

(Mich. Ct. App. 1996) (holding that a court may remove appointed counsel for physical 

incapacity after careful inquiry). Judge Umbridge could instead decide to report Lockhart to 

the local Bar Association’s Disciplinary Board so that it may commence an investigation, 

although she may deem alternative measures to be more appropriate and does not have an 

obligation to report to a disciplinary body. See Leslie W. Abramson, The Judge’s Ethical Duty 

to Report Misconduct by Other Judges and Lawyers and its Effect on Judicial Independence, 25 Hofstra 

L.R. 751, 773 (1997). Additionally, she could sanction Lockhart if she determines that he 

“violated a duty owed to a client, to the public, to the legal system, or to the profession,” 

“acted intentionally, knowingly, or negligently,” and caused “actual or potential injury.” See 

Model Rules for Law. Disciplinary Enf’t. r. 10.3 (Am. Bar Ass’n 2020). Judge Umbridge 

could subsequently tailor the type and severity of the sanction based on the grievousness of 

Lockhart’s misconduct. See id. at r. 10.1.  

If, after speaking with Lockhart, Lockhart’s Co-Counsel knows that Lockhart is 

committing professional misconduct by representing the Debtor despite being physically 

unfit, the Co-Counsel has an obligation under the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct 

to report Lockhart to the appropriate professional authority. See Model Rules of Pro. Conduct 

r. 8.3 (Am. Bar Ass’n 2020). The Co-Counsel could file the report with either Disciplinary 

Board of the jurisdiction in which Lockhart committed the alleged misconduct, with the 
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Disciplinary Board of the jurisdiction to which Lockhart belongs as a member, or with both. 

See Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 8.5 (Am. Bar Ass’n, 2020). According to D.C. Rules of 

Professional Conduct, jurisdictions generally leave determination of the “appropriate 

professional authority” to the discretion of the reporting attorney. See, e.g., D.C. Rules of Pro. 

Conduct r. 8.3 (D.C. Bar 2007). The Co-Counsel may also report Lockhart’s behavior to 

Judge Umbridge, who would then determine whether Lockhart’s behavior amounted to 

professional conduct and what actions would be appropriate. When deciding to report 

Lockhart, the Co-Counsel must consider whether doing so would violate Rule of Professional 

Conduct 1.6, which prohibits lawyers from knowingly revealing their client’s secrets or 

confidences; if reporting misconduct would violate rule 1.6, the Co-Counsel would not be 

required to do so. See Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 8.3 (Am. Bar Ass’n, 2020). However, 

some jurisdictions recommend that attorneys in those situations encourage their clients to 

consent to disclosure of the confidential information and allow a report to be filed if doing so 

would not substantially prejudice the client’s interests. See, e.g., D.C. Rules of Pro. Conduct 

r. 8.3 cmt. (D.C. Bar 2015). 

Similarly, the Opposing Counsel also has an obligation to file a report with the 

appropriate professional authority if they know that Lockhart’s behavior violates the Rules of 

Professional Conduct. See Model Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 8.3. However, under these facts, it 

is more likely that Lockhart’s Co-Counsel knows the cause of Lockhart’s condition, and 

whether it is grounds for professional misconduct, as she likely directly discussed the topic 

with Lockhart. Opposing Counsel may suspect, but is less likely to know for sure, why 

Lockhart is behaving oddly, and therefore would not have a duty to report Lockhart. Notably, 

some jurisdictions limit an attorney’s ability to report opposing counsel for misconduct; 

California has an “Extortion Prohibition Rule” which that “[a] lawyer shall not threaten to 
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present criminal, administrative, or disciplinary charges to obtain an advantage in a civil 

dispute.” Cal. Rules of Pro. Conduct r. 3.10 (Cal. Bar 2018). This rule is intended to prevent 

attorneys from using opposing counsel’s bad behavior as blackmail during litigation 

proceedings. See id. However, generally, jurisdictions permit attorneys to report potential 

conduct as long as they have a “good faith belief or suspicion that misconduct has been 

committed.” See, e.g., New York State Bar Ass’n Comm. on Pro Ethics, Op. No. 635 (1992).  
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